Case No. 79424

In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

Electronically Filed Aug 09 2021 03:27 p.m.

DESIRE EVANS-WAIAU, individually; GUADALUE La Prown MENDEZ, individually;

Appellants,

v.

BABYLYN TATE

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court Clark County, Nevada The Honorable Mary Kay Holthus, District Judge Case No. A-16-736457-C

PRINCE LAW GROUP

DENNIS M. PRINCE
Nevada Bar No. 5092
KEVIN T. STRONG
Nevada Bar No. 12107
10801 W. Charleston Boulevard
Suite 560
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
Attorneys for Appellants
Desire Evans-Waiau and Guadalupe Parra-Mendez

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arises from an October 30, 2015 motor vehicle collision in which Tate crashed her SUV into the back of Evans-Waiau's stopped car. 7 A.App.01600-01, 01656. During trial, Tate accepted responsibility for the collision and admitted Evans-Waiau did nothing to cause the collision. 7 A.App.01629-30. Tate never testified that she failed to see Evans-Waiau's car was stopped because of the cosmetic blackout covers on the taillights. 7 A.App.01649. Tate's medical experts conceded that Evans-Waiau and Parra-Mendez were both injured as a result of the collision. 7 A.App.01531, 8 A.App.01918-19. Yet, the jury returned a general verdict in Tate's favor and awarded Evans-Waiau no damages. 10 A.App.02392. This unfair outcome was solely caused by the improper ability to pay arguments made by Tate's counsel.

Tate's counsel improperly argued to the jury that Tate could never save enough money to pay the millions of dollars in damages Evans-Waiau asked the jury to award. 10 A.App.02363-64, 02368-69. Tate's

¹ The Court of Appeals incorrectly stated, as part of its ruling, that Tate testified she was unable to see Evans-Waiau's brake lights or turn signal illuminated because of the cosmetic covers. *See* Order of Affirmance, at p. 2.

counsel laid the groundwork to ensure these arguments garnered sympathy from the jury well before he presented them to the jury. 7 A.App.01640, 01658. Tate was asked specific questions by her counsel to illuminate her precarious financial position. Id. In response to those questions, Tate testified she was only one working as her husband was retired because he had a heart attack. 7 A.App.01658. Earlier in her testimony, Tate testified she had three daughters, one of whom was in college, one of whom was in high school, and one of whom was in middle 7 A.App.01640. Although she was the only one working and missed a lot of hours from work for trial, Tate told her husband "we'll be okay." 7 A.App.01658 (emphasis added). Tate's testimony regarding her delicate financial condition was deliberately designed to emphasize her counsel's arguments that she will never be financially able to pay a substantial judgment.

During closing argument, Evans-Waiau's counsel asked the jury to award Evans-Waiau \$1,000,000.00 for past pain and suffering and \$2,000,000.00 for future pain and suffering. 10 A.App.02316, 02320. Tate's counsel then improperly argued to the jury just how difficult it will

be for anyone to pay the precise amount of money Evans-Waiau requested:

The value of the dollar outside the courtroom is this, if the **average family** of four makes \$50,000 a year, if the average family of four saves \$50,000 a year [sic] makes \$50,000 a year and let's pretend **that family** never had to pay a mortgage, never had to pay rent, never had to buy groceries, never ever [sic] to pay for a barber, never had to hail a cab, never went to the movies, never went to a restaurant, never paid a bill. **It would take that family that makes \$50,000 a year**, if they never paid for any clothing, they never paid for children's clothing, never paid for schoolbooks, they never made a car payment, they never paid for gas, they never paid for electricity, it would save [sic] that family of four 20 years to save \$1 million.

Most people in today's world, most people in today's world even doing the best they can being as frugal as they can, if they manage to have another \$5,000 in the bank at the end of the year -

. . .

If that **average family of four** managed at the end of the year to have \$5,000 more in the bank than they have the previous year, they'd be doing -- **that's better than most of us**. That's \$5,000 at the end of the year that they didn't have the previous year. **A lot of people aren't able to do that**.

And if that family was able to save \$5,000 a year, how long would it take them to save \$1 million? It would take them 200 years to save

a million dollars. That's how much money they're asking for. 200 years. A million dollars. That's 1/3 of one element of one of the damages they're claiming this case.

It would take them 600 years to save \$3 million. That's not Monopoly money they're asking for. They're asking for real money. Real money.

10 A.App.02363-64, 02368-69 (emphasis added).

Tate's counsel consciously chose these words knowing the jury was already aware of Tate's tenuous financial condition. The message conveyed to the jury was clear: Tate will never, under any circumstances, be able to save enough money to pay millions of dollars in damages. In response, jurors returned a general verdict in Tate's favor. 10 A.App.02392. Evans-Waiau was unfairly deprived of appellate review of these improper arguments by the Court of Appeals. Therefore, review is warranted.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Evans-Waiau's counsel properly preserved his appellate challenge to the improper ability to pay arguments by making a contemporaneous and specific objection to the arguments. 10 A.App.02364. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals concluded Evans-Waiau waived the issue for review

on appeal because she failed to also move for a new trial. See Order of Affirmance, at p. 8. This Court has never held that a motion for new trial is a prerequisite to secure appellate review of a trial court's ruling on a timely objection to improper argument. Rather, this Court has repeatedly held that a "failure to object constitutes waiver of an issue" on appeal. Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. 67, 75 (2014); see also, Lioce v. Cohen, 124 Nev. 1, 17 (2008); Ringle v. Bruton, 120 Nev. 82, 95 The Court of Appeals erroneously interpreted this Court's (2004).decision in *Lioce* to require "a motion for new trial in the first instance" to secure appellate review. See Order of Affirmance, at pp. 6-7. The Lioce Court merely clarified the prevailing standards of review for district courts to apply "when deciding a motion for new trial based on attorney misconduct." 124 Nev. at 14. Filing a motion for new trial is not a condition precedent to secure appellate review of an attorney's improper argument when a contemporaneous objection was made and ruled upon To hold otherwise directly negates the importance of during trial. making a timely objection during trial, which is well-recognized by this Court, and unfairly deprives that party of appellate relief.

A. Nevada Law Does Not Require a Party Who Timely Objected to Improper Argument to Also Move for New Trial to Properly Preserve the Issue for Appeal

"To preserve a claim of attorney misconduct for appeal, a timely and proper objection must have been made at trial; otherwise, the claim is forfeited. *Regalado v. Callaghan*, 207 Cal. Rptr. 3d 712, 726 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016). "Timely and appropriate objections to instances of attorney misconduct serve at least two purposes:" (1) the objecting party "takes issue with the conduct;" and (2) they "conserve judicial resources" by allowing the trial court "to correct any potential prejudice and to avoid a retrial." *Ringle*, 120 Nev. at 94-95.

Over the course of several decades, this Court has continuously confirmed its longstanding view that a timely objection is the only condition a party must satisfy to properly preserve an issue for appeal:

> [U]nless specifically objected to at trial, objections to a substantive error in the absence of constitutional considerations are waived and no issue remains for this Court's consideration.

Nevada State Bank v. Snowden, 85 Nev. 19, 21 (1969).

To preserve the contention for appellate review, specific objections must be made to allegedly improper closing argument.

Southern Pac. Transp. Co. v. Fitzgerald, 94 Nev. 241, 244 (1978).

We have consistently held that failure to make a timely objection will preclude appellate consideration.

Pasgove v. State, 98 Nev. 434, 435 (1982).

We reiterate the requirement in civil case that counsel timely and specifically object to instances of improper argument in order to preserve an issue for appeal.

Ringle, 120 Nev. at 95.

1. Timely objections provide an adequate factual record needed for appellate review

"Requiring an objection also has a practicable aspect: the trial court judge will rule on the objection, giving the appellate court an actual trial court decision to review." State v. Burns, 438 P.3d 1183, 1192 (Wash. 2019) (emphasis added). "Timely objection enables the parties and the trial court (1) to preserve an adequate record for appeal, and (2) to avoid prejudicial error by permitting reconsideration while it is still possible." State v. Robinson, 676 A.2d 384, 391 (Conn. 1996). This is precisely why the federal courts of appeal have held that "it is not necessary to file a motion for new trial in order to have reviewed on appeal questions properly preserved at trial." United States v. Cook, 432 F.2d 1093, 1101 (7th Cir. 1970); see also, Richardson v. Oldham, 12 F.3d

1373, 1377 (5th Cir. 1994) ("Filing a Rule 59 motion is not a prerequisite to taking an appeal"); *Floyd v. Laws*, 929 F.2d 1390, 1400-01 (9th Cir. 1991) ("A question raised and ruled upon need not be raised again on a motion for a new trial to preserve it for review").

If there have been errors at the trial, duly objected to, dealing with matters other than sufficiency of the evidence, they may be raised on appeal from the judgment even though there has not been either a renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law or a motion for a new trial.

9B Charles Wright & Arthur Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure $\S2540$ (3d ed. 2021)

2. Evans-Waiau's counsel timely objected to the improper ability to pay arguments thereby establishing an adequate record to preserve appellate review

Once Tate's counsel implored jurors to sympathize with Tate by directly inviting them to consider the immense financial burden she will suffer to save enough money to pay a multimillion-dollar judgment for the rest of her life, Evans-Waiau's counsel timely and specifically objected to the improper arguments:

MR. PRINCE: **I'm lodging an objection** to these arguments about saving money and extra money and earning that that's how you get to a million dollars a year because it goes to whether or not the Defendant would be paid to satisfy the [indiscernible].

That is not in a consideration for this jury and I want to move to strike those comments, the value of the dollar about saving money, having an extra \$5,000 to save. I mean, that all goes to the ability to pay or satisfy. He's trying to have the jury consider something not part of the instructions. Suggesting that who could ever pay for this and how long it would saddle the Defendant in some way.

. . .

MR. [PRINCE]: Move to strike any income, earning, and saving. I guess that's what I'm saying because it goes to the thought process of ability to pay and it's the direct implication of that. So that's my objection.

10 A.App.02364, 002366 (emphasis added).²

Following counsel's timely and articulate objection, Tate's attorneys **both** substantively responded to the objection by suggesting the arguments were proper because they addressed the value of a dollar. 10 A.App.02364, 02366-68. After both parties' attorneys made their record, the trial court allowed Tate's counsel to argue to the jury the length of time it would take a family to save a certain amount of money. 10 A.App.02368-69. The trial court reasoned these arguments gave jurors perspective regarding the amount of money Evans-Waiau

² The trial transcript incorrectly attributes this statement to Thomas Winner, Tate's trial counsel.

requested them to award. *Id.* The trial court allowed Tate's counsel to make the exact arguments Evans-Waiau's counsel requested to be stricken because they improperly referred to Tate's ability to pay. 10 A.App. 02364, 02366. As a result, the trial court substantively overruled the objection and motion to strike made by Evans-Waiau's counsel. Therefore, this specific objection sufficiently preserved the issue for review on appeal thereby nullifying the need for Evans-Waiau's counsel to move for a new trial, which is specifically contemplated under Nevada law.

B. The *Lioce* Decision was Intended Solely to Redefine the Standards Applicable to Motions for New Trial Based on Attorney Misconduct

The Court of Appeals misconstrued the *Lioce* decision by concluding that a motion for new trial must be filed solely in the context of improper argument to preserve the issue for appeal. See Order of Affirmance, at pp. 6-7. This conclusion is based on the flawed legal assumption that *Lioce* mandates a trial court to "make specific findings, both on the record during oral proceedings and in its order," even when the trial court already substantively ruled on the objection to the improper argument. *Id.* The Court of Appeals overlooked that such findings are required **only**

when a party files a motion for new trial based on attorney misconduct. Lioce, 124 Nev. at 19-20. In other words, Lioce did not hold that to preserve appellate review of improper argument, a motion for new trial must be always filed, even when a party objected to the argument. If this were true, then there would be no incentive for parties to contemporaneously object to improper argument because they would never be deprived of appellate review so long as they moved for a new trial. This outcome is inconsistent with this Court's jurisprudence that came before Lioce and was formally adopted by Lioce.

1. This Court has never deviated from only requiring a timely objection to improper argument to preserve any issue for appeal

Beginning with *Barrett v. Baird*, 111 Nev. 1496, 1514-15 (1995) (overruled by *Lioce*, 124 Nev. at 17), this Court articulated the appellate standard of review to decide whether attorney misconduct warranted reversal. *Id.* at 1515. *Barrett* did not address whether a party must timely object to the alleged misconduct during trial to preserve the ability to move for a new trial. By that point, it was already understood that a party **must** object to attorney misconduct to preserve the issue for appeal. *Southern Pac. Transp. Co.* 94 Nev. at 244.

In DeJesus v. Flick, 116 Nev. 812, 816 (2000) (overruled, in part, by Lioce, 124 Nev. at 17), this Court evaluated whether DeJesus's failure to object to the alleged misconduct precluded appellate review of the trial court's denial of a motion for new trial. As part of its analysis, the DeJesus Court reaffirmed that failing to object to attorney misconduct precludes appellate review. Id. at 816. The dissent in DeJesus bolstered the necessity to make timely objections by stating that appellate review of attorney misconduct should be solely predicated on whether a timely objection to the misconduct was made at trial. 116 Nev. at 826-27.

In Ringle v. Bruton, 120 Nev. 82, 95 (2004), this Court again emphasized that timely objections must be made to secure appellate review, even when a motion for new trial is made, absent extraordinarily rare circumstances. In Bruton, Ringle's counsel objected once to Bruton's counsel's statement that Ringle lied or had a motive to lie even though he repeated those statements. Id. at 87. The objection was limited to Bruton's counsel suggesting that Ringle's counsel aided or prompted Ringle to lie in court. Id. at 87-88. Ringle later moved for a new trial contending Bruton's counsel committed misconduct because he "repeatedly argued that Ringle lied to the jury and intimated that

Ringle's counsel induced perjured testimony." *Id.* at 94. The trial court denied Ringle's motion for new trial. *Id.*

On appeal, this Court determined Ringle's counsel failed to object to the arguments on the basis that calling Ringle a liar was improper. *Id.* at 96. Even though Ringle filed a motion for new trial because Bruton's counsel repeatedly called him a liar, this Court concluded that, because he failed to object on that precise basis, "any error resulting from the misconduct is deemed waived." *Id.*

Ringle establishes that failing to move for a new trial does not preclude appellate review of attorney misconduct so long as a timely and specific objection is made to the improper argument. Lioce does not erode this basic legal principle that has been in existence for decades. The Court of Appeals' attempt to dismiss the importance of making a timely objection to improper argument sets a dangerous precedent that necessitates clarification by this Court.

The *Lioce* Court acknowledged that motions for new trial may be made, irrespective of whether the improper argument was objected-to or unobjected-to. 124 Nev. at 17-19. Afterall, the only avenue available to seek redress for a party who fails to object to improper argument is to

move for a new trial. See Nev. R. Civ. P. 59. The Lioce Court never held that motions for new trial must be made to secure appellate review when a timely objection was made. 124 Nev. at 19. The Lioce Court only clarified the standards of review to assess motions for new trial and consistently endorsed the principle that **only** objections to improper arguments are required to preserve the issue for appeal:

Ringle stated that a party must object to purportedly improper argument to preserve this issue for appeal. We reapprove this requirement, and we note that it is also necessary that a party object in order to preserve this issue in the district court for motions for a new trial.

Lioce, 124 Nev. at 19 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals also cited to this Court's decision in *Bato v*. *Pileggi*, Case No. 68095, 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 228 (Apr. 14, 2017) to justify its conclusion that a motion for new trial must always be filed to preserve appellate review of the improper argument. *See* Order of Affirmance, at p. 7. However, in *Bato*, this Court determined the issue arising from counsel's improper argument was not properly preserved for appeal because the aggrieved party did not object to the argument or move for a new trial. 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 228, at *3. Therefore, the

Court of Appeals erroneously stated the *Bato* Court held "that the failure to bring a motion for new trial in an attorney-misconduct appeal constitutes waiver." *See* Order of Affirmance, at p. 7. In actuality, a party waives its ability to challenge improper argument on appeal if he does not either object to the improper argument **or** move for a new trial. *Bato* does not deviate in any meaningful way from this basic legal principle.

The *Lioce* Court very clearly articulated the need to object to improper argument to preserve the misconduct issue under two distinct scenarios: (1) filing an appeal or (2) filing a motion for new trial. *Id.*Under either scenario, the trial court is afforded a full and fair opportunity to correct any error that resulted from the improper argument and to allow substantive review of its decision on appeal. The *Lioce* Court easily could have articulated the Court of Appeals' view that a party must object to the improper argument and file a motion for new trial to preserve the misconduct issue for appeal, but affirmatively chose not to. Imposing an additional requirement on a party who timely objected to improper argument and secured an adequate record from the

trial court, like Evans-Waiau, unfairly deprives that party of appellate review in direct contravention of Nevada law.

2. The Court of Appeals' reasoning unfairly diminishes the importance of making objections at trial by conditioning appellate review on filing a motion for new trial only

Even under Lioce and its progeny, both the appellate court and the trial court "may still review allegations of unobjected-to attorney misconduct" for plain error. 124 Nev. at 19; see also, Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. 67, 75 (2014) ("An attorney's failure to object constitutes waiver of an issue, unless the failure to correct the misconduct would constitute plain error"). Under the Court of Appeals' warped view, the only party who is deprived of appellate review of improper argument is the objecting party who did not move for a new trial. This constitutes an overly harsh and illogical outcome, particularly when the necessity of making a timely objection to secure appellate review has never truly been questioned by this Court. Evans-Waiau was not even afforded appellate review to determine whether the trial court's admission of the ability to pay arguments constituted plain error even though she timely objected. See Order of Affirmance, at pp. 7-8. Because the verdict reflects an extreme deviation from the evidence

presented, Evans-Waiau should have, at a minimum, received the benefit of plain error review.

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