Case No. 79424

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

DESIRE EVANS-WAIAU, individually; and GUADALUPE PARRA-MENDEZ, individually,

Appellants,

vs.

BABYLYN TATE, individually, Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 08 2021 11:59 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eight Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable MARY KAY HOLTHUS, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-736457-C

Answer to Petition for Review

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)
JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492)
ADRIENNE R. BRANTLEY-LOMELI (SBN 14,486)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200

THOMAS E. WINNER (SBN 5168)

Answer to Petition for Review

This petition for review should be denied for several reasons. First, contrary to appellant-plaintiffs' contention, the order of affirmance does not conflict with any prior decision from this Court, the Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court. NRAP 40B(a)(2). As the Court of Appeals correctly explained:

[A]ppellate review under *Lioce* requires a motion for new trial in the first instance. . . . Without an order from the district court, we cannot engage in appellate review under *Lioce* because there are not findings of fact or conclusions of law to review and no way to determine whether the district court abused its discretion. . . . [U]nder *Lioce* and its progeny, an attorney-misconduct appeal has always been predicated on the losing party filing a motion for new trial in the first instance. (Order of Affirmance, entered May 25, 2021 at 7-8, citing cases.)

No precedent from this Court holds otherwise or suggests a complaining party is at liberty to skirt the district court's post-trial assessment. Plaintiffs' discussion regarding the significance of contemporaneous objections is ineffective because they conflate necessity with sufficiency. Merely because objecting is important does not mean it is enough in this context. And, while plaintiffs complain they should have received "the benefit of plain error review" (Pet. 18-19), they never asked the Court of Appeals to review the district court's decision for plain error.

Second, the purportedly-improper closing argument was neither what plaintiffs claim it to be nor improper. Defense counsel did *not* "arguelto the jury that Tate could never save enough money to pay the millions of dollars in damages Evans-Waiau asked the jury to award." (Pet. 3.) Defense counsel did not mention defendant Babylyn Tate or her circumstances, but rather referred to the "average family of four" and "most people in today's world." He never argued that a reasonable award should be withheld because defendant lacked the means to satisfy it. He merely gave perspective to the real-world value of the millions that plaintiffs so causally requested in general damages. As the economist Adam Smith explained, the value of money is determined not just by its purchasing power but also by the extent of labor required to earn it. Counsel's commentary was not inappropriate, and it certainly did not deny plaintiffs of their substantial rights. Moreover, plaintiffs' attempt to link the closing argument to a brief segment of defendant's testimony days earlier is unavailing because that testimony was remote in time, was admissible for other purposes especially after plaintiffs had opened the door, and defense counsel never referred back to it.

Third, even assuming the comment during closing argument could be deemed objectionable, the defense verdict is *not* indicia of prejudice. Plaintiffs take disturbing license with the record to contend the defense verdict was unjustifiable and conclude it "was solely caused by the improper ability to pay arguments[.]" (Pet. 3.) That's simply not true. The jury had a solid and persuasive basis to reject plaintiffs' allegation that defendant acted negligently—*i.e.*, with less care than the ordinarily prudent person would exhibit under the circumstances.

Importantly, the trial judge would have recognized immediately the disconnect between plaintiffs' characterization of the trial and the body of evidence, which is why they sidestepped any motion for new trial that would have enabled the judge to enter findings. Ironically, in this petition arguing that a trial court's post-trial evaluation of alleged attorney misconduct is superfluous, plaintiffs' mischaracterization of the record highlights why litigants cannot be permitted to bypass such findings.

THE ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH PRIOR PRECEDENTS

The order of affirmance is perfectly consistent with Nevada law.

A. Seeking a New Trial on Appeal for Attorney Misconduct Entails First Moving the District Court for a New Trial and Confronting the Judge's Findings

"When ruling on a motion for a new trial based on attorney misconduct, district courts must make express factual findings, applying the [Lioce] standards." Lioce v. Cohen, 124 Nev. 1, 7, 174 P.3d 970, 974 (2008). For objected-to and overruled conduct the district court "must evaluate the evidence and the parties' and the attorneys' demeanor to determine whether a party's substantial rights were affected by the court's failure to sustain the objection and admonish the jury." Lioce, 124 Nev. at 18, 174 P.3d at 981. Indeed, only such findings enable the reviewing court to assess whether a new trial based on misconduct is called for, as the appellate court is not in a position to evaluate questions of fact. See id. at 20, 174 P.3d at 982 (the district court must "make findings... in doing so, the court enables our review of its exercise of discretion).

The decision to grant or deny a motion for new trial based on attorney misconduct "rests within the sound discretion of the trial

court." *BMW v. Roth*, 127 Nev. 122, 133, 252 P.3d 649, 657 (2011).

Although this Court will consider the propriety of particular comments de novo, it "will give deference to the district court's factual findings and application of the standards to the facts." *Lioce*, 124 Nev. at 20, 174

P.3d at 982. A reviewing court therefore cannot fault the district court for abusing discretion where an appellant never asked the trial judge to exercise its discretion in the first place. *See Baker v. Dillon*, 389 F.2d

57, 58 (5th Cir. 1968) ("The necessary implication of this rule is that there can be no appellate review if the trial court was not given an opportunity to exercise its discretion on a motion for a new trial.")

Further, an appellate court is not particularly well-suited to make factual determinations. *Ryan's Express v. Amador Stage Lines*, 128 Nev. 289, 299, 279 P.3d 166, 172 (2012). Review of attorney misconduct and its impact on the jury requires the district court to consider the facts of the case before it. *See BMW*, 127 Nev. at 132 n.4, 252 P.3d at 656 n.4; *see also Craig v. Harrah*, 65 Nev. 294, 306, 195 P.2d 688, 693 (1948) ("The reason of the long established rule for requiring ... a motion for a new trial ... [is] that the trial court may first have an opportunity to rectify an error."); *Wellons v. Valero Ref.-New Orleans, L.L.C.*, 616 S.W.3d 220,

232 (Tex. App. 2020) (noting that counsel's complaint must be raised in a motion for new trial); Herrington v. Spell, 692 So. 2d 93, 102 (Miss. 1997), overruled on other grounds by Whittington v. Mason, 905 So. 2d 1261 (Miss. 2005) (finding that if counsel is to later complain of abuse by the trial court, he must not only object, but make a motion for a new trial); Daniel v. William R. Drach Co., 849 A.2d 1265, 1273 (Pa. 2004) (noting claim waived due to Appellants' failure to preserve it in a posttrial motion); City of Bellevue v. Kravik, 850 P.2d 559, 564 (Wash. App. 1993) (noting that to preserve an error relating to misconduct of counsel, a party should move for a new trial); Vinson v. Linn-Mar Cmty. Sch. Dist., 360 N.W.2d 108, 121 (Iowa 1984) (noting counsel's statements were not raised in the trial court either by motion for mistrial or for new trial); Lyle v. Johnson, 126 So. 2d 266, 270 (Miss. 1961) (stating it is also the duty of counsel to object and preserve his objection, and promptly make a motion for a new trial); Bato v. Pileggi, Docket No. 68095 (Order of Affirmance, April 14, 2017) (holding that the failure to bring a motion for new trial in an attorney-misconduct appeal constitutes waiver) (citing Sauter v. Wasemiller, 389 N.W.2d 200, 201 (Minn. 1986)).

Here, plaintiffs never sought a new trial below because they astutely anticipated the trial judge would have found that their substantial rights were not affected by the verdict that was amply supported by the evidence.

B. Consistent with its Disfavor of Forum Shopping, this Court Has Never Said Losing Parties Are Free to Evade Post-Trial Findings by the District Court

No other Nevada cases conflict with the commonsensical application of *Lioce v. Cohen* in the order of affirmance.

1. Plaintiffs Cite No Case in Which this Court Condoned Avoidance of Post-Trial Findings by the District Court

Plaintiffs maintain that Nevada law has affirmed the view that a timely objection is the only condition a party must satisfy to properly preserve the appeal based on attorney misconduct. (Pet. 4.) However, this is not the case. Indeed, most of Appellants' Nevada cases do not even concern attorney misconduct. See Nevada State Bank v. Snowden, 85 Nev. 19, 20, 449 P.2d 254, 255 (1969) (appealing witnesses parol evidence testimony); Etcheverry v. State, 107 Nev. 782, 784, 821 P.2d 350, 351 (1991) (alleging that the district court improperly instructed the jury on the issue of proximate cause); Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008) (appealing evidentiary rulings). Tellingly, in the cases that do concern attorney misconduct the

appellant had moved for a new trial prior to appeal.

Plaintiffs' Nevada cases fall into two categories: where the appellant failed to object at all, either orally or in a post-trial motion and where the appellant moved for a new trial. In plaintiffs' first set of cases, the parties never raised an objection at trial and never moved for a new trial. Nevada State Bank v. Snowden 85 Nev. at 20, 449 P.2d at 255; Etcheverry v. State, 107 Nev. at 784, 821 P.2d at 351; Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. at 267, 182 P.3d at 109. The Court's concern in cases where an issue was never raised is ensuring a proper division of trial and appellate functions, maintaining judicial efficiency, and giving fair notice to other parties. Matter of L.L.S., 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 22, 487 P.3d 791, 795 fn 1 (2021).

Plaintiffs then cite to various cases in which the parties raised an objection at trial and then moved for a new trial. S. Pac. Transp. Co. v. Fitzgerald, 94 Nev. 241, 577 P.2d 1234 (1978); see also Ringle v. Bruton, 120 Nev. 82, 86 P.3d 1032 (2004) (appellant moved for new trial but argued a different theory in its motion for new trial that he did on appeal). Put simply, none of the cases cited in the petition for review

¹ Plaintiffs also cite to Pasgove v. State, 98 Nev. 434, 435, 651 P.2d 100,

indicated that a motion for new trial is superfluous.

2. Plaintiffs Conflate Necessity with Sufficiency

This is not an either/or proposition. Contemporaneous objections are required "to allow the trial court to rule intelligently and to give the opposing party the opportunity to respond to the objection"— to avoid the error if possible in the first place. Landmark Hotel & Casino, Inc. v. Moore, 104 Nev. 297, 299, 757 P.2d 361, 362 (1988). While that is necessary to preserve issues for appeal, it is insufficient to situate a losing party to seek a new trial on appeal based on attorney misconduct. The appellant also must request that relief from the trial court, which court is in the informed position to assess whether it is appropriate considering the wide array of circumstances. See Lioce, supra. Both are necessary.

C. Plaintiffs Never Sought Review for Plain Error

Plaintiffs complain they should have received "the benefit of plain error review." (Pet. 18-19.) But they never asked the Court of Appeals

^{101 (1982)} for the proposition that a timely objection is required. In *Pasgove* appellant failed to object during trial to the questioning and testimony of the victim. *Id*. Appellant subsequently moved the court for dismissal or mistrial. *Id*. The court denied the motion but admonished the jury. This Court found that appellants objection was untimely to preserve the issue for appeal. *Id*. This Court never stated that that objection alone would have been sufficient if it had been made.

to review the district court's decision for plain error, not even in their reply brief after respondent explained the significance of their failure to move for a new trial. Plaintiffs, therefore, have waived this argument. Bank of Am., N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 134 Nev. 604, 606, 427 P.3d 113, 117 (2018), as amended on denial of reh'g (Nov. 13, 2018) (new arguments may not be raised in the NRAP 40B petition for review).

II.

THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE AN INABILITY-TO-PAY ARGUMENT

Even if the defense judgment were reviewed for plain error, it must be affirmed. Plaintiffs' appeal does not present the issue they claim. Appellants allege that defense counsel asked the jury not to award millions in damages because defendant lacked ability to pay it.

That is false. Defense counsel merely reminded the jury about the real-world value of money.

A. Defense Counsel Never Encouraged the Jury to Award Less than the Evidence Might Justify

Plaintiffs contend that defense counsel's closing argument improperly referred to Tate's "ability to pay." This is incorrect. Rather, counsel's arguments reminded the jury that millions of dollars is a lot of money. It is well established that "trial counsel enjoys wide latitude in

arguing facts and drawing inferences from the evidence." *Jain v. McFarland*, 109 Nev. 465, 851 P.2d 450 (1993). And defense counsel did not exceed that latitude.

1. Reviewing Courts Construe Attorney Arguments Fairly, Not Cynically

In reviewing whether an attorney's remarks are misconduct, an appellate court should not lightly infer the statement has an improper meaning. Williams v. Borg, 139 F.3d 737, 744 (9th Cir. 1998) (stating that "a court should not lightly infer that an attorney intends a remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations"); see also State v. Felix R., 124 A.3d 871, 880 (Conn. 2015) (noting that an ambiguous statement by counsel is construed in favor of the party who made the statement). Where a comment is ambiguous, the reviewing court will give benefit of the doubt and infer the innocent or less-damaging meaning. *Id*. Alleged improper statements also must be considered in context. Maestas v. State, 128 Nev. 124, 147, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); Capanna v. Orth, 134 Nev. 888, 890, 432 P.3d 726, 731 (2018).

In evaluating alleged attorney misconduct, words matter.

Ferguson v. Morton, 2013 PA Super 329, 84 A.3d 715, 724 (Pa. Super Ct. 2013) (holding that whether misconduct occurred "is determined by an examination of the remark made"). This Court has consistently taken that approach, declining to interpret comments cynically in a manner that would render ambiguous terms inappropriate where a permissible interpretation is plausible. See e.g., Pizarro-Ortega v. Cervantes-Lopez, 133 Nev. 261, 269, 396 P.3d 783, 790 (2017), reh'g denied (Sept. 28, 2017) (construing comments in a light most favorable to counsel's good faith); Rish v. Simao, 132 Nev. 189, 201, 368 P.3d 1203, 1212 (2016) ("While these instances might be construed to violate the low-impact defense pretrial order, none of them describe the accident itself...there is no clear violation, let alone misconduct").

2. Defense Counsel Did Not Refer to Defendant Tate or Her Circumstances

Here, defense counsel statements discussed "the value of the dollar outside the courtroom." (10A.App.02363.) Counsel discussed how long it would take a family to save \$3,000,000, the amount Evans-Waiau had requested in *general* damages:

The value of the dollar outside the courtroom is this, if the average family of four makes \$50,000 a year, if the average family of four saves \$50,000 a year makes \$50,000 a year and let's pretend that family never had to pay a mortgage, never had to pay rent, never had to buy groceries, never ever to pay for a barber, never had to hail a cab, never went to the movies, never went to a restaurant, never paid a bill....it would save [sic] that family of four 20 years to save \$1 million.

(10A.App.02363.) Appellants objected to these comments. In response, Tate's counsel explained that this argument did not go to Tate's ability to pay but rather illustrated the value of money outside the courtroom in a simple way (10A.App.2367), analogous to "per diem" arguments employed by plaintiffs' attorneys. (10A.App.02364.)

The district court sustained the objection as it related to the lack of evidentiary foundation for an average income and "statistics" but permitted limited examples of how long it would take a family to save money. (10A.App.02368.) The district court specifically ruled it was permissible to provide hypotheticals of how long it takes to save money. (10A.App.2368.) The district court explained the purpose of allowing the argument was to put into perspective the amount of money sought. *Id*.

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